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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors of McMillan Shakespeare Limited (Company or MSL) present this report on the consolidated entity, consisting of the Company and the
entities that it controlled at the end of, and during, the financial year ended 30 June 2008 (Group or economic entity).

DIRECTORS
As at the date of this Annual Report, the directors of the Company are Mr Ronald Pitcher AM (independent Chairman), Mr Michael Kay (Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr Anthony Podesta (executive director), Mr John Bennetts (non-executive director), Mr Ross Chessari (non-executive
director) and Mr Graeme McMahon (independent director) (Directors). Each director held office as a Director throughout the financial year ended
30 June 2008 other than Mr Kay, who was appointed as the Managing Director on 15 July 2008. Details of the qualifications, experience and special
responsibilities of the Directors at the date of this Annual Report are set out on pages 4 and 5.
The Directors that are noted above as independent Directors, as determined in accordance with the Company’s definition of independence, have been
independent at all times throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings held by the board of Directors (Board) (including meetings of committees of the Board) and the number of meetings attended
by each Director during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 were as follows:
Board
Director

Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr A. Podesta
Mr J. Bennetts
Mr R. Chessari
Mr G. McMahon

Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

Eligible to Attend

Attended

Eligible to Attend

Attended

Eligible to Attend

Attended

11
11
11
11
11

10
10
11
10
10

3
3
3
3

3
2
3
3

4
4
4
4

4
3
4
4

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company and its controlled entities during the course of the financial year ended 30 June 2008 were the provision of
remuneration and financial services to public and private organisations throughout Australia.
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company and its controlled entities during the course
of the financial year ended 30 June 2008 that are not otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report.

RESULTS
Details of the results for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 are as follows:
Results

Net profit after income tax (NPAT)
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share on a diluted basis
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2008

2007

$17,367,800
$25,595,669
$24,144,735
25.76 cents/share
25.46 cents/share

$13,237,390
$20,198,943
$18,855,525
19.79 cents/share
19.51 cents/share
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Financial Highlights
Operating revenue
exceeded $65 million for the
first time ...

... and NPAT rose by
31.2% ...
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... and shareholders continued to enjoy outstanding returns ...
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DIVIDENDS
Details of dividends declared and/or paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 are as follows:
2008
$

2007
$

Final dividend for the financial year ended 30 June 2007 of 8.0 cents (2007: 7.0 cents) per ordinary
share paid on 18 October 2007 fully franked at the tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)

5,382,613

4,678,894

Interim dividend for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 of 7.5 cents (2007: 4.5 cents) per ordinary
share paid on 3 April 2008 fully franked at the tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)

5,068,758

3,017,958

10,451,371

7,696,852

Dividends

Total

Subsequent to the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the Directors declared a final dividend of 9.0 cents per ordinary share (franked at the tax rate
of 30%) to be paid on 17 October 2008 out of retained profits as at 30 June 2008, bringing the total dividend to be paid out of retained profits for the
financial year ended 30 June 2008 to 16.5 cents per ordinary share, an increase of 32% on the prior financial year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Financial Overview
The Directors are pleased that the Group has produced a net profit after tax (NPAT) of $17,367,800 for the year ended 30 June 2008 (2007: $13,237,390),
representing a 31.2% increase on the prior financial year. This result was driven by a 22.2% increase in revenue, reflecting continued strong organic
growth across the organisation, while expenses grew only 17.6%.
The Group’s financial position remains strong with no debt and an $8.3 million increase in the cash balance over the year to $18.0 million, representing
an 85% increase on the prior financial year as a result of strong operating cash flows.
Operational Overview
The Group continued its pursuit of customer service excellence, implementing various initiatives in the customer care areas to improve its clients’
experiences.
The Group’s novated leasing and fleet services product offering experienced strong growth in both unit sales and yield per sale as the take-up of
aftermarket products grew.
The salary packaging product offering also delivered good growth in participating employee client numbers with the continued push into the corporate
sector delivering several high quality corporate clients.
While the 2008 Federal Budget impacted the Group’s incipient ‘Fude Card’ and ‘TechSelect’ product offerings, revenue and NPAT impacts were immaterial
as the products had only just begun to be rolled out to selected clients.
As announced to the market, the Board recently appointed a new Chief Executive Officer, Mr Michael Kay, and a new Chief Financial Officer, Mr Mark
Cansdale. The appointments will greatly assist the Board and senior management team in delivering shareholder value going forward.
Strategies & Prospects
For the 2009 financial year, the Group will continue to focus on obtaining new business, strengthening key client relationships and increasing client product
density. With the continued development of new products and initiatives, the Group will also seek to enter into new markets and expand its client base.
The Board believes that the Group is well placed to continue to create value for shareholders in difficult economic times. The salary packaging business
will continue to provide an annuity income stream and allow cross-selling of novated leasing services and other product extensions into what has proven
to be a very receptive client base. At the same time, the strong balance sheet and cash flow position allows the Group to look for well-priced bolt-on
or related acquisitions.
The key sensitivity for the 2009 financial year is motor vehicle sales. Notwithstanding the Group’s continued increase in market share, a slow down in
national motor vehicle sales could be expected to impact revenue.
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STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company and its controlled entities that occurred during the financial year ended
30 June 2008 that are not otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen that has significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Company and its controlled entities, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company and its
controlled entities in the financial years subsequent to 30 June 2008 that are not otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
Other than the information disclosed in this Annual Report, information as to the likely developments in the operations of the Company and its controlled
entities and the expected results of those operations in subsequent years has not been included in this Annual Report because the Directors believe, on
reasonable grounds, that to include such information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company and its controlled entities.

DIRECTORS’ EXPERIENCE & SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

Ronald Pitcher AM, FCA, FCPA, ACAA
4 February 2004
Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit Committee, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
69

Mr Pitcher is a Chartered Accountant with over 45 years experience in the accounting profession and the provision of business advisory services.
Mr Pitcher is also the Chairman of Cellestis Limited (since 2001) and a director of National Can Industries Limited (since 1994) and Reece Australia
Limited (since 2003). Under the Company’s definition of independence, Mr Pitcher is considered to be independent.
Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

Michael Kay LLB
15 July 2008
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
50

Before joining the Company in May 2008, Mr Kay was the Chief Executive Officer of Australian Associated Motor Insurers Limited (AAMI). Mr Kay joined
AAMI in 1993, and before rising to the position of Chief Executive Officer in 2006, he served as General Manager, Southern Region (comprising Victoria,
Tasmania and South Australia) and Executive Chairman, Corporate Affairs, and then, from 2002, as the Chief Operating Officer. Before joining AAMI,
Mr Kay practised for 10 years as a solicitor. Mr Kay holds a Bachelor of Laws from the University of Sydney.
Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

Anthony Podesta BEd (Bus), MTMA, FTIA, MAICD
1 December 2003
Executive Director
52

Mr Podesta founded the McMillan Shakespeare business in 1989 and has been instrumental in the growth of its operations and the development of the
outsourced salary packaging administration industry in Australia since that time. Mr Podesta is a registered taxation agent, a fellow of the Taxation Institute
of Australia, a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and holds a public practice certificate with the Association of Taxation. Mr Podesta
also held an executive position with Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited, providing strategic advice on workplace financial services.

4
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Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

John Bennetts BEc, LLB
1 December 2003
Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee
45

Mr Bennetts is an experienced investor and a founder and director of a number of companies, including Cellestis Limited (since 2001) and private equity
investment firm, Mooroolbark Investments Pty Limited (M-Group). He is also a principal and founder of the corporate advisory firm, Asia Pac Consulting
Pty Limited, which provides legal advice and corporate advisory services to a range of companies in Australia and Asia. Prior to the establishment of the
M-Group, he was Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary of Datacraft Limited. Before joining Datacraft Limited, he practised as a solicitor.
Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

Ross Chessari LLB, MTax
1 December 2003
Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee
48

Mr Chessari is a founder and director of the investment manager, SciVentures Investments Pty Limited (Sciventures). Prior to founding SciVentures,
Mr Chessari was the Managing Director of ANZ Asset Management and the General Manager of ANZ Trustees.
Name:
Appointed:
Position:
Age:

Graeme McMahon FCPA, FAIM, FRAI, FCIT
18 March 2004
Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee
68

Mr McMahon is a director of SSSR Holdings Pty Limited and Expo Hire (Aust.) Pty Limited. He is also a member of the Queensland Australian Football
League Commission and a Member of Council at La Trobe University. Mr McMahon was the Chairman of the Essendon Football Club, a position that
he held for 7 years, and the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Ansett Australia Group until 1996. He is a Fellow of the CPA of Australia,
a Fellow of the Royal Aeronautical Society and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport. Under the Company’s definition of
independence, Mr McMahon is considered to be independent.

COMPANY SECRETARY
On 26 May 2008, Mr Mark Cansdale BEc, CA was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr Cansdale is
a Chartered Accountant with over 17 years experience in company secretarial services, statutory reporting, corporate governance practices, taxation
planning, mergers and acquisitions and strategic planning.
Before Mr Cansdale’s appointment, Mr Paul McCluskey served as the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, prior to which
Mr McCluskey was a partner of Grant Thornton (formerly known as William Buck) at a time at which that audit firm undertook an audit of the Company.
The Directors were satisfied at the time of Mr McCluskey’s appointment that the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
were not contravened.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Overview
The Group’s remuneration policies and practices are designed to align staff and shareholder interests and attract and retain staff members who are
critical to its growth and success. The Board maintains a Remuneration Committee whose objectives are to oversee the formulation and implementation
of remuneration policy and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies and packages applicable to the Directors and executives. For
further details of the composition and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee, please refer to the Corporate Governance Statement.
The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
Remuneration Structure – Executives
Overview
In setting its remuneration arrangements, reference is made to the current employment market in which the Group operates.
The components of remuneration for each executive comprise fixed remuneration (including superannuation and benefits) and long-term equity-linked
performance incentives (in the form of options). Some executives are also offered cash based short-term incentives.
The Remuneration Committee reviews the fixed remuneration component and, if applicable, the short-term cash incentive component of each executive’s
remuneration each year (or on promotion).
The executives specified in the Remuneration Report are those that make, or participate in making, decisions that affect the whole or a substantial part of
the business of the Group or have capacity to affect significantly the financial standing of the Group (and are the only company executives and relevant
group executives of the Group as those terms are defined in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)). The Directors do not believe that any other employees of
the Company or its controlled entities are required to be identified.
Notwithstanding that Mr Kay is referred to elsewhere in the Directors’ Report as a Director, he is noted throughout the Remuneration Report as an
executive given that he was not appointed as the Managing Director until 15 July 2008.
Fixed Remuneration
The fixed remuneration component comprises salary, superannuation and, in some cases, non-cash benefits, such as motor vehicle lease payments,
investment loan repayments, education expenses, travel benefits and car parking benefits. Retirement benefits may be provided by the Company to
executive directors from time to time if approved by shareholders (or otherwise provided in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)).
Fixed remuneration reflects the duties, responsibilities and performance levels of the relevant executive, general market conditions and comparable
remuneration offered in related industry sectors. No element of the fixed remuneration component is at risk.
Some executives have guaranteed salary increases of not less than a percentage equal to the rise in the consumer price index (all groups) (CPI) over the
preceding financial year. Increases in salary beyond CPI (and increases in salary for executives not entitled to receive the guaranteed CPI increase) are
subject to market conditions and the achievement of Company and individual objectives.
Neither the Chief Executive Officer nor the Chief Financial Officer is remunerated separately for acting as an officer of the Company or any of its controlled
entities.
Short-term Incentives
The Company offers a cash bonus to certain executives primarily responsible for the achievement of the financial targets of the Group. Each applicable
executive becomes entitled to receive a cash bonus only once the targets are met or exceeded, ensuring that a reward is only available once returns have
been created for shareholders. Cash bonuses are payable within 30 days of the adoption of the financial statements of the Company for the relevant
financial year. Any bonus payable can, at the discretion of the executive, be sacrificed as superannuation.
The targets are set annually by the Remuneration Committee (and approved by the Board), in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, for the
forthcoming financial year. Satisfaction of the targets is assessed annually by the Remuneration Committee measured against the audited financial
statements for the Group and reports from executive management.
For the financial years ending 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008, the targets were based on the achievement of Group, individual business and/or personal
objectives (requiring the maintenance of operating costs in line with predetermined budgets and/or the achievement of specific financial and nonfinancial targets linked to drivers of performance in the reported and future financial years).

6
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This mix of targets was chosen as each relevant executive can directly influence the achievement of the targets, providing a strong motivation for the
executive to increase the performance of the Group, thereby aligning the executive’s performance with shareholder interests.
Given that all cash bonuses are linked to the financial performance of the Group and only become payable to the extent that targets for the relevant
financial year are achieved or exceeded, the Board believes that the use of cash bonuses is the most appropriate form of short-term incentive to align the
interests of shareholders with those of the executives responsible for the achievement of the Group’s financial results.
Long-term Incentives
The Company issues options to certain executives and employees under the McMillan Shakespeare Limited Employee Option Plan (Plan). The Company
has had the Plan in place since 2004 and, as at 30 June 2008, there were 20 participants in the Plan (2007: 26).
Under the Plan, four year options over unissued ordinary shares in the Company are issued for no consideration and are, other than as disclosed in this
Annual Report, granted at market prices prevailing when the Board approved the issue. Options granted under the Plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
Once exercised, each option is converted into one fully paid ordinary share in the Company. The Remuneration Committee determines the number of
options to be granted on the basis of the position, duties and responsibilities of the relevant executive.
As at 30 June 2008, the Company had made six offers under the Plan in March 2004, December 2004, April 2005, August 2005, February 2007 and
December 2007.
All options in the March 2004, December 2004 and April 2005 offers were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
• 50% of the options were exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but the
entitlement to exercise was subject to continuity of employment.
• 25% of the options were exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but
the entitlement to exercise was subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended
30 June 2005, the targets centred on the achievement of EBITDA, operating revenue and client number hurdles (with achievement of less than the
predetermined hurdles resulting in partial or no vesting entitlement). For the financial years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007, the targets
centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT.
• 25% of the options were exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but the
entitlement to exercise was subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial years ended
30 June 2005, 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007.
The August 2005 offer was issued on the same terms as above, other than with respect to the financial year ended 30 June 2005, for which there were
no financial targets or individual performance indicators.
All options in the February 2007 offer were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
• 50% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment.
• 25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009,
but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial years ended
30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT.
• 25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial years ended
30 June 2007, 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009,
other than with respect to 50,000 options that are exercisable on or after 15 September 2009 subject to continuity of employment until that date.
The December 2007 offer was made on varying terms. 165,000 options were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
• 50% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment.
• 25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011,
but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended
30 June 2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT.
• 25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial years ending
30 June 2008, 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2010.
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A further 90,000 options of the December 2007 offer vest and are exercisable on or after 15 September 2010 subject to continuity of employment until
that date.
A further 290,000 options of the December 2007 offer vest and are exercisable subject to continuity of employment until 15 September 2008 and the
achievement of individual performance indicators or budgeted NPAT for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
The final 30,000 options of the December 2007 offer were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
• 50% of the options vest and are exercisable on or after 15 September 2008 but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment.
• 25% of the options vest and are exercisable on or after 15 September 2008, but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment
and the achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted
NPAT.
• 25% of the options vest on or after 15 September 2008, but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of
individual performance indicators for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
The Board believes that the use of options is the most appropriate form of long-term equity-based performance incentive to reinforce alignment with
shareholder interests. All options issued have an exercise price (or strike price) and only become valuable to the extent that the share price rises above
the exercise price. Given that options are issued at the prevailing market price at the date that the Board approved the grant (other than as disclosed in
this Annual Report), it is implied that increased shareholder wealth is required.
The linking of EBITDA, operating revenue and client numbers to the option entitlements for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and the linking
of budgeted NPAT to the option entitlements for all other relevant financial years were chosen as eligible executives can directly influence these
outcomes.
The individual performance hurdles were chosen as they provide a strong motivation for executives to increase the performance of the Group, thereby
aligning the performance of eligible executives with long term shareholder interests. The Chief Executive Officer, in consultation with the Remuneration
Committee, assesses the performance of eligible executives against the individually tailored performance indicators.
Given the size of the Group, the Board believes that it is appropriate for 50% of the options granted under the March 2004, December 2004, April 2005,
August 2005 and February 2007 offers and approximately 35% of the options granted under the December 2007 offer not to be subject to performance
hurdles (and for no individual performance hurdles to be imposed upon the August 2005 offer with respect to the financial year ended 30 June 2005
and 50,000 options under the February 2007 offer) in order to retain experienced executives critical to the Group’s success and provide the eligible
executives with a sense of ownership in the Company.
No executive can enter into a transaction that is designed or intended to hedge the executive’s exposure to any unvested Company option. Executives
will be required to provide declarations to the Board on their compliance with this policy from time to time.
Remuneration Structure – Non-Executive Directors
The non-executive Directors are remunerated for their services from the maximum aggregate amount (currently $450,000 p.a.) approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 16 October 2007 for that purpose. The Board sets the fees for the Chairman and the other non-executive Directors. No
additional fees are paid for participation in Board committees.
The Board’s policy is to remunerate the Chairman and the non-executive Directors at market rates for comparable companies for the time and commitment
involved in meeting their obligations.
Neither the Chairman nor the other non-executive Directors received any performance related remuneration or options with respect to the financial years
ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008. There is no direct link between the remuneration of the Chairman or any other non-executive Director and the
short term results of the Group because the primary focus of the Board is on the long term strategic direction and performance of the Group.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2007, however, Mr Graeme McMahon received an entitlement to an additional fee in the amount of $25,000,
payable for consulting services provided during the financial year ended 30 June 2006.
There are no termination payments made to the Chairman or the other non-executive Directors on their retirement from office other than payments relating
to the accrued superannuation entitlements included in their remuneration.

8
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Remuneration Details
Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Director and executive of the Company received during the financial year ended
30 June 2008 are as follows:
Short-term benefits
Cash
Cash salary/
Bonus
fees1
$
$

Directors
Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr A. Podesta (Executive Director)5
Mr J. Bennetts (Non-executive Director)
Mr R. Chessari (Non-executive Director)
Mr G. McMahon (Non-executive Director)
Executives – Company
Mr M. Kay (CEO)6
Mr M. Cansdale (CFO)7
Mr P. Lang (Head of Operations)8
Mr P. McCluskey (former CFO)9
Mr G. Kruyt (National Sales Manager)10
Mr G. Haramis (former Sales Director)11

Other
Benefits2
$

Post-employment
Long-term Share-based
benefits
benefits
payments
Percentage of
Termination Long Service
Total Remuneration
Super
Benefits3
Leave
Options4 Remuneration
as Options
$
$
$
$
$
%

110,000
403,509
40,000
40,000
27,083

-

5,782
-

9,900
66,283
3,600
3,600
43,767

152,501
-

-

-

119,900
628,074
43,600
43,600
70,850

-

80,300
23,130
109,410
261,634
15,385
177,066

20,000
-

1,156
136,568
72,240
-

37,750
1,010
18,546
48,404
6,351
13,736

2,231

5,390
1,277
-

41,145
5,391
14,963
-

119,206
24,140
311,060
315,428
130,215
193,033

13
2
11
-

Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Director and executive of the Company and its controlled entities received
during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 are as follows:
Short-term benefits
Cash
Cash salary/
Bonus
fees1
$
$

Directors
Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr A. Podesta (Executive Director)5
Mr J. Bennetts (Non-executive Director)
Mr R. Chessari (Non-executive Director)
Mr G. McMahon (Non-executive Director)
Executives – Company
Mr M. Kay (CEO)6
Mr M. Cansdale (CFO)7
Mr P. Lang (Head of Operations)8
Mr P. McCluskey (former CFO)9
Mr G. Kruyt (National Sales Manager)10
Mr G. Haramis (former Sales Director)11
Executives – Group
Ms K. Murphy (CEO, RemServ)12

Other
Benefits2
$

Post-employment
Long-term Share-based
benefits
benefits
payments
Percentage of
Termination Long Service
Total Remuneration
Super
Benefits3
Leave
Options4 Remuneration
as Options
$
$
$
$
$
%

110,000
403,509
40,000
40,000
27,083

-

5,782
-

9,900
66,283
3,600
3,600
43,767

152,501
-

-

-

119,900
628,074
43,600
43,600
70,850

-

80,300
23,130
109,410
261,634
15,385
177,066

20,000
-

1,156
136,568
72,240
-

37,750
1,010
18,546
48,404
6,351
13,736

2,231

5,390
1,277
-

41,145
5,391
14,963
-

119,206
24,140
311,060
315,428
130,215
193,033

13
2
11
-

249,845

10,000

15,384

14,571

104,167

-

-

393,966

-

Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Director and executive of the Company and its controlled entities received
during the financial year ended 30 June 2007 were as follows:
Short-term benefits
Cash
Cash salary/
Bonus
fees1
$
$

Directors
Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr A. Podesta (Executive Director)5
Mr J. Bennetts (Non-executive Director)
Mr R. Chessari (Non-executive Director)
Mr G. McMahon (Non-executive Director)
Executives – Company
Mr P. Lang (Head of Operations)8
Mr P. McCluskey (former CFO)9
Mr G. Haramis (former Sales Director)11
Executives – Group
Ms K. Murphy (CEO, RemServ)12
Mr P. Staunton (former CEO, RemServ)13

Other
Benefits2
$

31,250
374,997
40,000
40,000
30,625

-

7,059
25,000

83,881
30,354
3,600
3,600
38,181

-

1,624
-

-

115,131
414,035
43,600
43,600
93,806

-

78,963
201,852
146,007

-

109,101
33,393
19,038

16,672
39,491
21,647

-

5,649
-

25,946
38,759
-

236,331
313,495
186,692

11
12
-

47,333
129,539

-

2,033
45,394

4,260
63,517

9,137

-

1,161

53,625
248,748

-
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Post-employment
Long-term Share-based
benefits
benefits
payments
Percentage of
Termination Long Service
Total Remuneration
Super
Benefits3
Leave
Options4 Remuneration
as Options
$
$
$
$
$
%
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1 The amounts shown for the non-executive Directors reflect directors’ fees only. The amounts shown for the executives reflect cash salary and annual leave entitlements.
2 Other benefits reflect motor vehicle lease payments, investment loan repayments, education expenses, travel benefits and/or car parking benefits.
3 Other than as disclosed in this Annual Report, termination benefits include all annual leave and, where applicable, long service leave entitlements that accrued during the
financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008 and were paid out upon cessation of service or employment with the Company or its controlled entities.
4 The equity value comprises the value of options issued. No shares were issued to any Director (and no options were granted to any Director) during the financial years
ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008. The value of options issued to executives (as disclosed above) are the assessed fair values at the date that the options were
granted to the executives, allocated equally over the period from when the services are provided to vesting date. Fair values at grant date are determined using a binomial
option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the expected term of the option, the share price at grant date, the expected price volatility of the underlying
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
The model inputs for options granted to executives during the financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008 included:
Model input

30 June 2008

30 June 2007

Consideration payable upon grant

Nil

Nil

Exercise price

$4.52

$3.80

Grant date

21 December 2007

4 February 2007

Expected life

3 years

3.5 years

Share price at grant date

$4.52

$3.80

Expected price volatility

24%

29.7%

Expected dividend yield

3.75%

2.5%

Risk-free interest rate

6.33%

5.90%

5 The employment agreement entered into between Mr Podesta and the Company dated 10 March 2004, pursuant to which Mr Podesta served as Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer, terminated (by mutual agreement) on 4 May 2008. Upon his resignation, Mr Podesta was paid an amount of $149,885 for past services as
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. Given the length of his service to the Group, the Board believed that the amount paid was reasonable. On 15 July 2008
Mr Podesta entered into an employment agreement with the Company for a fixed 12 month term with a commencement date of 5 May 2008, pursuant to which
Mr Podesta now serves as an Executive Director. The employment agreement may be terminated for poor performance or health on the provision of three months’ written
notice (or, with respect to the Company, payment in lieu) or, in the event of cause (excluding poor performance or health), without notice or any payment.
6 The employment agreement between Mr Kay and the Company is for a five year fixed term, which commenced on 4 February 2008. The agreement provides for
termination of employment by either party without cause on the provision of six months’ written notice (or, with respect to the Company, payment in lieu). The agreement
may also be terminated by the Company for cause without notice or any payment. Notwithstanding the commencement of employment on 4 February 2008, Mr Kay did
not assume the position of Chief Executive Officer (and, for the purposes of this Remuneration Report, did not serve as an executive) until 5 May 2008 (following the
resignation of Mr Podesta on 4 May 2008). Mr Kay is noted as an executive (and not as a Director) in this Remuneration Report because he was not appointed as the
Managing Director until 15 July 2008.
7 The employment agreement between Mr Cansdale and the Company is for a 3.5 year fixed term, which commenced on 26 May 2008. The agreement provides for
termination of employment by either party without cause on the provision of three months’ written notice (or, with respect to the Company, payment in lieu). The
employment agreement may also be terminated by the Company for cause without notice or any payment. Mr Cansdale served as an executive at all times during the
period 26 May 2008 to 30 June 2008.
8 The employment agreement between Mr Lang and the Company is for a three year fixed term, which commenced on 1 October 2006. The agreement provides for
termination of employment by the Company for poor performance or health on the provision of three months’ written notice or without cause on the provision of six
months’ written notice (or payment in lieu). The agreement may, however, be terminated by the Company for cause (excluding poor performance or health) without notice
or any payment. Mr Lang served as an executive at all times during the financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008.
9 The employment agreement entered into between Mr McCluskey and the Company dated 16 May 2005, pursuant to which Mr McCluskey served as Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary, terminated (by mutual agreement) on 26 May 2008. On 2 June 2008, Mr McCluskey recommenced employment with the Company in
the position of ‘Business Analyst’. Mr McCluskey served as an executive at all times during the financial year ended 30 June 2007 and the period from 1 July 2007 to
26 May 2008.
10 The employment agreement between Mr Kruyt and the Company is for a two year fixed term, which commenced on 1 October 2006. The agreement provides for
termination of employment by the Company for poor performance or health on the provision of three months’ written notice or without cause on the provision of six
months’ written notice (or payment in lieu). The agreement may, however, be terminated by the Company for cause (excluding poor performance or health) without notice
or any payment. Mr Kruyt served as an executive at all times during the period from 5 February 2008 until 30 June 2008.
11 The employment agreement between Mr Haramis and the Company terminated on 5 February 2008. Mr Haramis served as an executive at all times during the period
from 8 November 2006 until 5 February 2008.
12 The employment agreement between Ms Murphy and Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited terminated on 1 July 2008. Ms Murphy served as an executive at all times
during the period from 26 April 2007 until 30 June 2008.
13 The employment agreement between Mr Staunton and Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited terminated on 4 May 2007. Options disclosed as remuneration for the
financial year ended 30 June 2007 were forfeited on resignation (unless the vesting conditions were met). Mr Staunton served as an executive at all times during the
period from 1 July 2006 until 4 May 2007.
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Remuneration at risk
The relevant proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:
At risk
Short-term incentive

Fixed remuneration
Executives

Company
Mr M. Kay
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis
Group
Ms K. Murphy
Mr P. Staunton

At risk
Long-term incentive

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

100%
100%
87%
92%
74%
49%

89%
88%
57%

6%
15%
46%

43%

13%
2%
11%
5%

11%
12%
-

97%
-

100%
74%

3%
-

25%

-

1%

Consequences of performance on shareholders’ wealth
In addition to the links between remuneration and shareholder value discussed above, when reviewing the Group’s performance and benefits for
shareholder wealth and the link to the remuneration policy, the following indices are generally considered:
2008

2007

2006

2005

20041

$17,368,000
$10,451,000
$2.46
25.76 cents

$13,237,000
$7,697,000
$5.31
19.79 cents

$11,305,000
$3,240,000
$3.35
17.08 cents

$5,204,000
$988,000
$1.57
7.95 cents

$651,000
$0.80
1.56 cents

Indices

Net profit attributable to Company members
Dividends paid
Share price as at 30 June
Earnings per share

1 The results for McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited were reported from 10 March 2004 only.

Net profit is considered as part of the financial performance targets in setting short term incentives. Net profit for the period ended 30 June 2004
was calculated in accordance with previous Australian GAAP. Net profit amounts for the financial years ended 2005 to 2008 have been calculated in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. Dividends, changes in share price, return on equity and earnings per share are all taken into account
when setting the ‘at risk’ components of executive remuneration.
The overall level of executive compensation takes into account the performance of the Group over a number of years. The Group’s profit from ordinary
activities after tax has grown at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 49.5% per annum over the period from 1 July 2005 until 30 June 2008. Over
the same period, earnings per share growth (calculated on a CAGR basis) was 48.0% and return on equity (RoE) exceeded 20% (and, in the financial
years ended 30 June 2006 to 30 June 2008, RoE actually exceeded 35%). The results for the period ended 30 June 2004 have been excluded from these
calculations given that this period did not reflect a full financial year.
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Cash Bonus and Option Details
Cash Bonus
No cash based short-term incentives were paid to (or were forfeited by) any Director during the financial years ended 30 June 2007 or 30 June 2008.
With respect to the financial year ended 30 June 2008, cash based short-term incentives paid to (or forfeited by) executives are set out in the table below.
No part of the bonus is payable with respect to any future financial year.
Paid
%

Forfeited
%

100.0
100.0
-

100.0

Achievement of a certain personal objective.
Achievement of budgeted operating revenue targets.
Achievement of budgeted operating revenue targets.

14.3

85.7

Achievement of budgeted operating revenue targets.

Executives

Company
Mr M. Kay
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis
Group
Ms K. Murphy

Targets

Options
No options were granted to, exercised by or lapsed with respect to the Directors during the financial years ended 30 June 2007 or 30 June 2008. The
terms and conditions of each grant of options to executives (or their personally controlled entities) affecting their remuneration in the financial year ended
30 June 2008 and each relevant previous or future financial year are as follows:

Grant Date

Expiry Date

15 March 2004
14 December 2004
15 August 2005
4 February 2007
4 February 2007
21 December 2007
21 December 2007
21 December 2007

15 March 2008
14 December 2008
15 August 2009
4 February 2011
4 February 2011
21 December 2011
21 December 2011
21 December 2011

Value per
Exercise
option at
Price grant date1 Date Exerciseable

$0.50
$1.54
$0.50
$3.80
$3.80
$4.52
$4.52
$4.52

$0.083
$0.254
$1.150
$0.726
$0.726
$0.525
$0.525
$0.525

One third after each of 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 & 15 September 20072
One third after each of 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 & 15 September 20072, 3
One third after each of 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 & 15 September 20074
One third after each of 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 & 15 September 20092
100% after 15 September 20092
100% after 15 September 20082
One third after each of 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 & 15 September 20112
100% after 15 September 20102

1 Reflects the value at grant date for options granted as part of remuneration calculated in accordance with AASB 2: Share-based Payment.
2 All options were issued subject to the exercise conditions set out on pages 7 and 8. The exercise price of the options granted was based on the prevailing price of fully
paid ordinary shares in the Company when the Board approved the issue.
3 The relevant executive, Mr Staunton, ceased employment with Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited on 4 May 2007, at which time the final tranche of options (that
were due to vest on 15 September 2007 subject to satisfaction of the exercise conditions set out on page 7 with respect to the December 2004 offer) lapsed.
4 The exercise price of the options granted was based on the price of fully paid ordinary shares in the Company offered to the public under the prospectus dated 4 February
2004 and the supplementary prospectus dated 19 February 2004. 50,000 options vested on 15 September 2005 subject to continuity of employment. 50,000 options
vested on 15 September 2006 and a final tranche of 46,875 options vested on 15 September 2008 in accordance with the exercise conditions set out on page 7 with
respect to the August 2005 offer.
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Details of the options granted, vested and exercised during the financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008 with respect to the executives (or
their personally controlled entities) are set out in the table below. The exercise price of all options granted was based on the prevailing price of fully paid
ordinary shares in the Company when the Board approved the grant. No amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on the exercise of options.
Options granted
Executives

Company
Mr M. Kay
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis
Group
Ms K. Murphy
Mr P. Staunton

Options vested

Ordinary shares issued on exercise of options

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

40,0001
90,0001
100,0002

100,000
-

48,761
46,875
28,876
-

35,200
50,000
-

34,4203
46,8753
28,8763
-

35,200
50,000
-

-

-

-

38,000

-

71,500

1 The options will vest subject to continuity of employment until 15 September 2009 and the achievement of financial targets.
2 Mr Haramis ceased employment with the Company on 5 February 2008, at which time the options that were due to vest on 15 September 2008 (subject to continuity of
employment to that time and the achievement of predetermined revenue targets) lapsed.
3 All options were issued at an exercise price of $0.50.

The percentage of options granted to executives (or their personally controlled entities) that have vested or were forfeited during the financial year ended
30 June 2008 is set out below:

Executives

Company
Mr M. Kay
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis1
Group
Ms K. Murphy

Financial year granted

Vested
%

Forfeited
%

2004, 2007 & 2008
2006
2004 & 2008
2008

5.6
93.75
-

0.9
6.25
100

-

-

-

Financial year(s) in which options may vest

2008, 2009 & 2010
2008
2008 & 2010
2009
-

1 Mr Haramis ceased employment with the Company on 5 February 2008, at which time the options that were due to vest on 15 September 2008 (subject to continuity of
employment to that time and the achievement of predetermined revenue targets) lapsed.

McMILLAN SHAKESPEARE LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

916CR15729_McMillan_Shakespeare_AReport08_2_Text.indd 13

13

5/09/2008 3:01:41 PM

Details of the value of options granted, exercised and lapsed during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 with respect to the executives (or their
personally controlled entities) are as follows:

Executives

Company
Mr M. Kay
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis4
Group
Ms K. Murphy

(i)
Value at
grant date1
$

(ii)
Value at
exercise date2
$

(iii)
Value at
lapse date3
$

Minimum value
of option to vest
$

Maximum value
of option to vest
$

21,000
47,250
52,500

137,680
187,500
115,504
-

32,096
12,688
24,863
-

-

25,127
9,844
-

-

-

-

-

-

1 Reflects the value at grant date for options granted as part of remuneration during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 calculated in accordance with AASB 2: Sharebased Payment.
2 Reflects the value at exercise date for options granted as part of remuneration and exercised during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
3 Reflects the value at lapse date for options that were granted as part of remuneration and lapsed during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
4 Mr Haramis ceased employment with the Company on 5 February 2008, at which time the options that were due to vest on 15 September 2008 (subject to continuity of
employment to that time and the achievement of predetermined revenue targets) lapsed.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
At the date of this Annual Report, the relevant interest of each Director in the ordinary shares issued by the Company and its controlled entities, as notified
by the Directors to the Australian Stock Exchange Limited (ASX) in accordance with section 205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), is as follows:
Director

Options

Ordinary shares

Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr M. Kay (Managing Director)
Mr A. Podesta
Mr J. Bennetts
Mr R. Chessari
Mr G. McMahon

3,750,000
-

105,100
4,164
12,935,000
5,045,546
6,425,063
100,000

No Director has, during the financial year ended 30 June 2008, become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate
amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by the Directors shown in the Remuneration Report or the fixed salary of a full time employee of
the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a controlled entity with the Director or an entity in which the Director has a substantial
financial interest or a firm in which the Director is a member.
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OPTIONS GRANTED
During or since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the Company has granted options to the Directors and executives as part of their
remuneration as follows:

Directors
Mr R. Pitcher, AM (Chairman)
Mr M. Kay (Managing Director)
Mr A. Podesta
Mr J. Bennetts
Mr R. Chessari
Mr G. McMahon
Executives – Company
Mr M. Cansdale
Mr P. Lang
Mr P. McCluskey
Mr G. Kruyt
Mr G. Haramis
Executives – Group
Ms K. Murphy

Number granted

Date of grant

Exercise price

Expiry date

3,750,000
-

1 July 2008
-

$4.70
-

1 July 2012
-

625,000
40,000
90,000
100,000

1 July 2008
21 December 2007
21 December 2007
21 December 2007

$4.70
$4.52
$4.52
$4.52

1 July 2012
21 December 2011
21 December 20011
-

-

-

-

-

The options will vest subject to satisfaction of the exercise conditions set out on pages 7 and 8. The options granted to Mr Haramis were forfeited on
5 February 2008 when he ceased employment with the Company.
No person holding an option has or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in a share issue of any other corporation.

UNISSUED SHARES
At the date of this Annual Report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are:
Option plan

Number of unissued ordinary shares

Exercise price

Employee Option Plan

304,580

$3.80

Expiry date

4 February 2011

Employee Option Plan
Employee Option Plan

475,000
4,375,000

$4.52
$4.70

21 December 2011
1 July 2012

During or since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the Company has issued 387,931 fully paid ordinary shares as a result of the exercise
of options.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Directors believe that the Company and its controlled entities have adequate systems in place for the management of relevant environmental
requirements and are not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Company and its controlled entities.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
Under the Company’s Constitution, the Company indemnifies the Directors and officers of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries to the full
extent permitted by law against any liability and all legal costs in connection with proceedings incurred by them in their respective capacities.
The Company has also entered into a Deed of Access, Indemnity and Insurance with each Director and the Company Secretary (Deed), which protects
individuals acting as officeholders during their term of office and after their resignation. Under the Deed, the Company also indemnifies each officeholder
to the full extent permitted by law.
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The Company has a Directors & Officers Liability Insurance policy in place for all current and former officers of the Company and its controlled entities.
The policy affords cover for loss in respect of liabilities incurred by Directors and officers where the Company is unable to indemnify them and covers
the Company for indemnities provided to its Directors and officers. This does not include liabilities that arise from conduct involving dishonesty. The
Directors have not included the details of premium paid with respect to this policy as such disclosure is not permitted under the terms of the policy.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, Grant Thornton (formerly known as William Buck) and its related practices, for
non-audit services provided, during the financial year ended 30 June 2008, is disclosed in Note 4 to the Financial Statements.
The Company’s policy is that the external auditor is not to provide non-audit services unless the Audit Committee has approved that work in advance,
as appropriate.
The Audit Committee has reviewed a summary of non-audit services provided during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 by Grant Thornton. Given that
the only non-audit services related to client contract audits and operational and procedural review services, the Audit Committee has confirmed that the
provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). This
has been formally advised to the Board. Consequently, the Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year by the auditor
and its related practices did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration, as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), is set out on page 50 of this
Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
A Corporate Governance Statement is set out on pages 17 to 20 of this Annual Report.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Ronald Pitcher, AM
Chairman

Michael Kay
Managing Director

5 September 2008
Melbourne, Australia
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION
This statement outlines the corporate governance policies and practices formally adopted by the Company. These policies and practices are in accordance
with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s ‘Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations’ (ASX Guidelines),
unless otherwise stated.

ROLE OF THE BOARD
The role of the Board is to provide strategic guidance for the Group and effective oversight of management. The Board operates in accordance with
the Company’s Constitution, Board Charter and Delegated Authority Matrix, which describe the Board’s composition, functions and responsibilities
and designates authority reserved to the Board and that delegated to management. The charter can be accessed on the Company’s website
(www.mcms.com.au).

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Directors are as follows:
Name

Position

Mr R. Pitcher, AM
Mr M. Kay
Mr A. Podesta
Mr J. Bennetts
Mr R. Chessari
Mr G. McMahon

Independent Chairman
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Independent Director

Appointment

4 February 2004
15 July 2008
1 December 2003
1 December 2003
1 December 2003
18 March 2004

Each Director is a senior executive with the skills and experience necessary for the proper supervision and leadership of the Company. As a team, the
Board brings together a broad range of qualifications and experience in remuneration services, financial services, finance, accounting, law, sales and
marketing and public company affairs. Details of the Directors, their experience and their special responsibilities with respect to the Company are set
out in the Directors’ Report.
The Board considers a Director independent if that person is free of management and other business relationships that could materially interfere, or could
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere, with the exercise of objective and independent judgement. More information can be obtained from the
Company’s Policy on the Independence of Directors which can be accessed on the Company’s website. The Chairman determines the relevant materiality
thresholds on a case by case basis with reference to both quantitative and qualitative bases.
The ASX Guidelines recommend that a listed company should have a majority of directors who are independent. The Board, as currently composed,
does not comply with this recommendation. Mr Chessari and Mr Bennetts currently hold, through their controlled entities, approximately 17% of the
shares in the Company. These Directors have participated in the growth and development of McMillan Shakespeare and have a significant interest in the
Company’s continued success. Given their history and skills, the Board believes that it is appropriate for each of these Directors to be appointed to the
Board.
Despite stepping down as Chief Executive Officer, Mr Podesta continues as a Director of the Company. As the founder of the Company, and with over 20
years experience in the remuneration services industry, Mr Podesta brings a wealth of experience and an in-depth knowledge of the Group’s operations
and customers to the Board. As the Company’s largest shareholder, he also has a significant interest in the Company’s continued success. As such, the
Board believes that it is appropriate for Mr Podesta to remain on the Board as an Executive (and, therefore, non-independent) Director.
The Company believes that the Board, as currently composed, has the necessary skills and motivation to ensure that it continues to perform strongly,
notwithstanding that its overall composition does not specifically meet the ASX Guidelines.
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their role and responsibilities,
facilitating Board discussions and managing the Board’s relationships with the Company’s senior executives.
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing Group strategies and policies. The Board charter specifies that these are separate roles to
be undertaken by separate people.
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BOARD PRACTICES
The Board meets regularly to evaluate, control, review and implement the Company’s operations and objectives. The Directors receive monthly reports
from the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and operational managers. A Director, subject to prior approval of the Chairman or, in the
absence of that approval, the Board, may seek independent professional advice (including legal advice) at the Company’s expense to assist them in
carrying out their duties and responsibilities.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
The Board has delegated the responsibility for evaluating the performance of the Board and the Directors to the Chairman. The performance evaluation
includes the examination of the performance of the Board and the individual Directors as against the Board Charter. The evaluation may establish
goals and objectives for the Board and provide any recommendations for improvement to Board performance as it sees fit. In July 2008, the Chairman
undertook the performance appraisal of the Board with respect to the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
The Board has delegated the responsibility for evaluating the performance of executive management to the Remuneration Committee.
Given the size of the Company’s operations, the Board has decided against the establishment of a separate nomination committee at this time. As such,
the responsibility for the selection and nomination of new Directors remains with the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, which is structured so that the committee is chaired by an independent director and consists of at
least three members all of whom are non-executive directors. Details of names and relevant qualifications of the Directors appointed to the Remuneration
Committee, the number of meetings of the committee held during the year ended 30 June 2008 and the attendance record for each relevant member
can be found in the Directors’ Report.
The Remuneration Committee is empowered to investigate any matter brought to its attention and has direct access to any employee or any independent
expert and adviser as it considers appropriate in order to ensure that its responsibilities can be carried out effectively. The Remuneration Committee has
a documented charter approved by the Board. The charter can be accessed on the Company’s website.
The ASX Guidelines recommend that the majority of members of the Remuneration Committee should be independent. The Remuneration Committee,
as currently composed, does not comply with this recommendation.
At present, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of four members, two of whom are not independent. Mr Chessari and Mr Bennetts have participated
in the growth and development of McMillan Shakespeare and have a significant interest in the Company’s continued success. Given their management
experience and skills, the Board believes that it is appropriate for each of these Directors to be appointed to the Remuneration Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board has established an Audit Committee, which is structured so that the committee is chaired by an independent director and consists of at
least three members, all of whom are non-executive directors. Details of the names and relevant qualifications of the Directors appointed to the Audit
Committee, the number of meetings of the committee held during the year ended 30 June 2008 and the attendance record for each relevant member
can be found in the Directors’ Report.
The Audit Committee is empowered to investigate any matter brought to its attention and has direct access to any employee, the independent auditors or
any other independent experts and advisers as it considers appropriate in order to ensure that its responsibilities can be performed effectively. The Audit
Committee has a documented charter approved by the Board. The charter can be accessed on the Company’s website.
The ASX Guidelines recommend that the majority of members of the Audit Committee should be independent and that a person who is not the Chairman
of the Board should chair the committee. The Audit Committee, as currently composed, does not comply with these recommendations.
The Audit Committee has appropriate financial expertise and all members are financially literate and have a deep understanding of the industry in which
the Company operates. At present, however, the Audit Committee is comprised of four members, only two of whom are independent. Mr Chessari and
Mr Bennetts have participated in the growth and development of McMillan Shakespeare and have a significant interest in the Company’s continued
success. Given their management experience, skills and the size of their investment in the Company, the Board believes that it is appropriate for each of
these Directors to be appointed to the Audit Committee.
In addition, the Audit Committee is chaired by Mr Pitcher who, while independent, is also the Chairman of the Board. Mr Pitcher is a chartered accountant
with over 45 years experience in the accounting profession and the provision of business advisory services. Given the Company’s highly specialised
activities and Mr Pitcher’s extensive accounting and business experience, the Board believes that Mr Pitcher is the most appropriate person to chair the
Audit Committee.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING & RISK MANAGEMENT
Given the nature and size of the Company’s operations, the Board has decided against the establishment of a separate risk management committee at this
time, and risk management remains a direct responsibility of the Board. As such, the Board has ultimate responsibility for the integrity of the Company’s
financial reporting. Management has implemented internal control processes for identifying, evaluating and managing significant financial, operational
and compliance risks to the achievement of the Company’s objectives, which are subject to Board oversight from time to time.
Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment. There is an organisation structure with clear lines of accountability and
delegation of authority. Adherence to the Director and Employee Codes of Conduct is required at all times and the Board actively promotes a culture of
quality and integrity.
The Directors have received and considered written representations from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with
the ASX Guidelines. The written representations confirmed that:
• the financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial condition and operating results of the
Company and its controlled entities and are in accordance with all relevant accounting standards; and
• the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control that implements the policies adopted
by the Board and that compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.
The Company’s external auditor has been invited to attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to answer questions from the members of the
Company about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the Independent Audit Report.
The Company has adopted procedures for the selection and appointment of the external auditor, and the rotation of external audit engagement partners,
in line with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
The Company has adopted a formal Risk Management Policy, which identifies the material risks affecting the Company and the manner in which each
of those risks will be managed.

REMUNERATION POLICY
The Company’s remuneration policy is structured to ensure that the reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered.
Further, it aims to ensure that remuneration packages properly reflect the duties and responsibilities and level of performance of the staff member and
that the remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality.
Non-executive Directors are remunerated by way of fees and do not participate in profit or incentive schemes and do not receive options, incentive
payments or retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation.
Executive remuneration generally comprises the following elements:
• fixed remuneration, including superannuation and benefits, which is set at a level that reflects the marketplace for each position;
• short term performance incentives, in the form of cash bonuses, which incorporate eligibility restrictions based on continuity of employment, the
achievement of certain financial performance hurdles and individual performance targets; and
• long-term equity-linked performance incentives, in the form of share options, which incorporate exercise restrictions based on continuity of
employment and the achievement of certain individual and financial performance hurdles.
Further details of the Company’s remuneration policies and practices in relation to the Directors and executives can be found in the Directors’ Report
under the heading ‘Remuneration Report’.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND THE MARKET
The Company’s commitment to communicating with its shareholders is embodied in its Continuous Disclosure Policy, which contains policies and
procedures on information disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure of any information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect
to have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities.
In addition to the distribution of the Annual Report, information is communicated to shareholders via the announcements section of the Company’s website.
Given the size of the Company and the number of shareholders, the Board does not believe that it is appropriate for the Company to adopt a formal
Communications Policy at this time.

McMILLAN SHAKESPEARE LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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ETHICS AND CODES OF CONDUCT
The Company has adopted a Director Code of Conduct that applies to the directors of the Company. The Director Code of Conduct reflects the commitment
of the Company to ethical standards and practices. The Director Code of Conduct can be reviewed on the Company’s website.
The Company has also adopted an extensive Employee Code of Conduct that applies to all employees of the Company, which acknowledges the need for,
and continued maintenance of, the highest standard of ethics and seeks to ensure that employees act honestly, transparently, diligently and with integrity.
A summary of the Employee Code of Conduct can be accessed on the Company’s website.
The Company has also implemented a policy on securities trading that binds all of the Group’s officers and employees. In addition to ensuring that
all officers and employees are aware of the legal restrictions on trading in the Company’s securities whilst in possession of unpublished pricesensitive information, the policy also places restrictions on when Directors and employees can deal in the Company’s securities and requires the
Directors and certain employees to notify the Company Secretary before they deal in the Company’s securities. The policy can be accessed on the
Company’s website.
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Economic Entity
Note

Revenue and other income
Employee and director benefits expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Technology and communication expenses
Property and corporate expenses
Other expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax (expense)/benefit

3

Parent Entity
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

4

66,624
(30,379)
(1,451)
(2,719)
(1,898)
(5,189)
(69)

54,536
(24,578)
(1,343)
(2,907)
(1,793)
(4,661)
(175)

19,579
(535)
(133)
(37)
-

7,495
(435)
(118)
(156)
(171)

5

24,919
(7,551)

19,079
(5,842)

18,874
86

6,615
202

17,368

13,237

18,960

6,817

25.76
25.46

19.79
19.51

4

Profit attributable to members of the
parent entity
Basic earnings per share (cents per share)
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)

2008
$’000

6
6

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

Economic Entity
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

8
9

17,969
8,836
26,805

9,709
7,636
17,345

10,371
143
202
10,716

212
94
314
620

10
12
13
14

2,053
688
33,891
36,632

2,283
786
33,670
36,739

44,332
1
44,333

44,332
113
44,445

63,437

54,084

55,049

45,065

Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Current tax receivable
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Other financial assets
Plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liability
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

15
16
17
18

9,774
3,206
1,814
270
15,064

9,068
2,565
1,587
432
13,652

17,246
17,246

16,794
16,794

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

17

166
166

165
165

-

-

Total liabilities

15,230

13,817

17,246

16,794

Net assets

48,207

40,267

37,803

28,271

22,637
304
25,266

21,734
184
18,349

22,637
304
14,862

21,734
184
6,353

48,207

40,267

37,803

28,271

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Distributable reserve
Total equity

19
20

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

22

916CR15729_McMillan_Shakespeare_AReport08_3_Financials.indd 22

5/09/2008 3:04:05 PM

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note

2008 - Economic entity
Equity as at beginning of year
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity
Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Transfer to share capital
Option expense
Dividends paid

Ordinary Shares
$’000

Distributable
Reserve
$’000

Option Reserve
$’000

Total
$’000

21,734
903
-

18,349
17,368
17,368
(10,451)

184
(86)
206
-

40,267
17,368
17,368
903
(86)
206
(10,451)

Equity as at 30 June 2008

22,637

25,266

304

48,207

2007 - Economic entity
Equity as at beginning of year
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity
Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Transfer to share capital
Option expense
Dividends paid

20,689
1,045
-

12,809
13,237
13,327
(7,697)

166
(112)
130
-

33,664
13,237
13,237
1,045
(112)
130
(7,697)

21,734

18,349

184

40,267

19(a)

7

19(a)

7

Equity as at 30 June 2007

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note

2008 - Parent entity
Equity as at beginning of year
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity
Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Transfer to share capital
Option expense
Dividends paid

Ordinary Shares
$’000

Distributable
Reserve
$’000

Option Reserve
$’000

Total
$’000

21,734
903
-

6,353
18,960
18,960
(10,451)

184
(86)
206
-

28,271
18,960
18,960
903
(86)
206
(10,451)

Equity as at 30 June 2008

22,637

14,862

304

37,803

2007 - Parent entity
Equity as at beginning of year
Profit attributable to members of the parent entity
Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Transfer to share capital
Option expense
Dividends paid

20,689
1,045
-

7,233
6,817
6,817
(7,697)

166
(112)
130
-

28,088
6,817
6,817
1,045
(112)
130
(7,697)

21,734

6,353

184

28,271

Equity as at 30 June 2007

19(a)

7

19(a)

7

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Economic Entity
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Dividends received
Interest paid
Income taxes (paid)/refunded
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary
Payment for capitalised software
Acquisition of plant and equipment

21

11(b)

2008
$’000

Parent Entity
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

74,432
(47,854)
779
(6,811)

62,213
(42,268)
399
(237)
(4,308)

4
(407)
129
19,383
310

46
(444)
31
7,418
(233)
-

20,546

15,799

19,419

6,818

(597)
(481)
(976)

(578)
(366)
(1,055)

(597)
-

(578)
-

Net cash used in investing activities

(2,054)

(1,999)

(597)

(578)

Cash flows from financing activities
Equity contribution
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid by parent entity
Proceeds from controlled entities

219
(10,451)
-

355
2,400
(5,715)
(7,697)
-

219
(10,451)
1,569

355
2,400
(5,650)
(7,697)
4,267

(10,232)

(10,657)

(8,663)

(6,325)

8,260
9,709

3,143
6,566

10,159
212

(85)
297

17,969

9,709

10,371

212

7

Net cash used in financing activities
Net cash increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

8

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) General information
The financial report of McMillan Shakespeare Limited and controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2008 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on 5 September 2008 and covers McMillan Shakespeare Limited (“the Company” or the “parent entity”) as an
individual entity as well as “the economic entity”, consisting of McMillan Shakespeare Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) as required by
the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial report is presented in Australian currency.
McMillan Shakespeare Limited is a company limited by shares and domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian
Stock Exchange.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs. Cost is based on fair values of the consideration given
in exchange for assets.
Compliance with IFRS
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS
ensures that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
(c) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one-half of the voting rights. Potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing control.
Consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies.
All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions have been eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of the parent entity.
(d) Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments
are issued, the value of the equity instruments is their published market price on the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be
demonstrated that the published price on the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods
provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in the business combinations are initially measured at their fair values
at acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the economic entity’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill (refer Note 1(g)(i)). If the cost of acquisition is less than the economic entity’s share of the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is recognised in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net
assets acquired.
Where settlement of any part of the cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to the present value at the date
of the exchange using the entity’s incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
(e) Income tax
(i)

Income tax expense
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the Australian income tax rate
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their respective tax bases, at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based
on those rates which are enacted or substantially enacted.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of investments
in subsidiaries where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Current and deferred tax balances relating to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
Tax consolidation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are members of a tax consolidated group under Australian taxation law. The
Company is the head entity in the tax consolidated group. Entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement
and a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, the Company and each of the entities in the tax
consolidated group have agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on current tax liability or current tax asset of the
head entity.
(f) Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation on assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Class of Fixed Asset

Depreciation Rate

Plant and equipment

20 - 40%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate at each balance sheet date.
(g) Intangible assets
(i)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill is not amortised but is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Any impairment is recognised
immediately in the income statement and cannot be subsequently reversed.

(ii) Capitalised software development costs
Software development costs are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the software will flow to the entity
and the cost of the development can be measured reliably. Capitalised software development costs are amortised on a straight line basis for
a period no longer than three years, being the period during which the benefits are expected to be realised. Capitalised software development
costs are reviewed annually for indicators of impairment, and if indicators are identified an impairment test is performed (refer Note 1(h)).
(iii) Contracts acquired
Contracts acquired are recognised on the basis that they are separable from the entity and can be sold or transferred. Contracts acquired
are recognised at the value of any consideration paid plus any expenditure directly attributable to the transaction. Contracts are amortised
over the life of the contract, and reviewed annually for indicators of impairment in line with the economic entity’s impairment policy (refer
Note 1(h)).
(iv) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Any potential intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy
the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value can be measured reliably.
(h) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the economic entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset being the higher of
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the economic entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. An impairment of goodwill is not
subsequently reversed. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
McMILLAN SHAKESPEARE LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease, except where it exceeds a previous revaluation
increment, in which case it is recognised in the profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss, other than one relating to goodwill, subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
(i) Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognised on trade date, the date on which the economic entity commits to the
financial assets or liabilities. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the economic entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(ii) Trade and other receivables
All receivables are classified as ‘loans and receivables’ under the requirements of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost, less provision for impairment. All trade and other
receivables are classified as current as they are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition. Cash flows relating to
short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.
The Directors establish an allowance for impairment when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivables. The provision consists of allowances for specific doubtful amounts. The allowance
account for receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that there is no possible recovery of the amount, at
which point it is written off directly against the amount owing. The impairment loss and any subsequent reversal thereof, is recognised in the
income statement within other expenses. There have been no amounts recorded for impairment for the parent entity.
(iii) Other financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the separate financial statements of the Company, under AASB 127: Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements.
(iv) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables, including accruals, are recorded initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost. Trade and other payables
are non-interest bearing.
(j) Employee benefits
(i)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave
Provision is made for the economic entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to balance date.
Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year together with benefits arising from wages and salaries and annual leave which
will be settled after one year, have been measured at amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled plus related on-costs. Other
employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for
those benefits. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates attaching to national government guaranteed securities with terms to maturity
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(ii) Superannuation
The amount charged to the income statement in respect of superannuation represents the contributions made by the economic entity to
superannuation funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

(iii) Bonuses
A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonuses is recognised in employee benefits. This liability is based upon predetermined
plans tailored for each participating employee and is measured on an ongoing basis during the financial period. The amount of bonuses is
dependent on the outcomes for each participating employee.
(k) Revenue
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are shown net of returns, trade
allowances and duties, and taxes paid. The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.
(i)

Rendering of services
Revenue from services provided is recognised when the service is provided to the customer.

(ii) Interest
Revenue from interest is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method uses the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows over the expected life of the financial asset.
(iii) Dividends
Revenue from dividends is recognised when the economic entity’s right to receive payment is established.
(l) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
(m) Share-based payments
Share options granted on or after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005
The fair values of options granted are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).
The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.
Fair value is determined using a binomial option pricing model. In determining fair value, no account is taken of any performance conditions other
than those related to the share price of the Company (“market conditions”). The cumulative expense recognised between grant date and vesting date
is adjusted to reflect the directors’ best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest because of internal conditions of the options, such
as the employees having to remain with the Company until vesting date, or such that employees are required to meet internal targets. No expense
is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest because internal conditions were not met. An expense is still recognised for options that do not
ultimately vest because a market condition was not met.
(n) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from the equity proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.
Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options associated with the acquisition of a business are included as part of the business
combination.
(o) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before
the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.
(p) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to members of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year.
Diluted earnings per share
The earnings used to calculate diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the basic earnings by the after-tax effect of interest and any
other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(q) Critical judgements and significant accounting errors
The preparation of financial statements requires the Board of Directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised and in any future periods affected.
All significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made during the year have been considered for significance. Key assumptions used for
value-in-use calculations to determine the recoverable amount of assets in impairment tests are discussed in Note 14(d).
No other judgements, estimates or assumptions are considered significant.
(r) New accounting standards and interpretations
The following new accounting standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (standards) have been issued, but are not mandatory for
30 June 2008 reporting periods. They may impact the economic entity in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption, but
have not been applied in preparing this financial report. No other new standards will impact the financial report.
AASB 3: Business Combinations (reissued March 2008)
The reissued AASB 3 introduces more detailed guidance for accounting for acquisitions and consideration in business combinations, as well as
requiring that all acquisition costs be expensed rather than recognised as part of goodwill. The standard is applicable for periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2009. Application is not expected to affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial report, but may impact business
combinations the Group undertakes in the future.
AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (reissued September 2007)
The reissued AASB 101 makes amendments to the presentation and naming of the financial statements. The reissued standard is applicable
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. Application is not expected to affect amounts disclosed in the financial
statements, however there will be various changes to the presentation of the financial statements and the names of the individual statements.
(s) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the
“rounding off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s overall risk management approach is to identify the risks and implement safeguards which seek to minimise potential adverse effects
on the financial performance of the Group. The Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and managing the financial risks of the Group.
The Board monitors these risks through the monthly board meetings and ad hoc discussions with senior management, should the need arise.
A risk register is presented and discussed at the monthly Board meetings, as are monthly management accounts which are analysed in terms of the
Group’s documented risk management policies. All exposures to risk and management strategies are consistent with the prior year.

(a) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
Liquidity management strategy
The Group produces monthly positive operating cashflows and has significant cash deposits which enables the Group to settle obligations as they
fall due without the need for short term financing facilities. The Chief Financial Officer monitors the cash position of the Group on a regular basis.
The Group also has a multi-option facility with BOS International to fund working capital requirements, investments and acquisitions should the
need arise.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
The Company and economic entity have exposure to credit risk through the receivables and deposits with banks. Credit risk for the economic entity
arising from total receivables, rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, is $8,836 (2007: $7,636) and $17,967 (2007: $9,707) arising from total
deposits with banks.
Credit risk for the parent entity, rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, arising from total receivables is $143 (2007: $94) and $10,371 (2007:
$212) arising from total deposits with banks.
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Credit risk management strategy
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as well as exposure from outstanding receivables. For deposits with
banks, only independently rated institutions with a minimum rating of A-1+ are used, and funds are maintained with a minimum of two banks to
minimise exposure to any one institution while maximising returns on the available cash deposits.
If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, management assesses the credit quality
of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. The overall debtor aging position is reviewed monthly
by the Board as is the provision for any impairment in the trade receivables balance.
(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash at bank and deposits, which are at floating interest rates.
The Group does not hedge its interest rate risks. Details of the Group’s sensitivity to fluctuations in interest rate risk are contained in Note 8(a).
(d) Foreign currency risk
The economic entity does not engage in any transactions that are denominated in a currency other than Australian dollars, the functional and
presentation currency. As such, the economic entity is not exposed to foreign currency risk.
(e) Other market price risk
The economic entity does not engage in any transactions that give rise to any other market risks.

3

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Economic Entity
Note

Revenue from continuing operations
Remuneration services
Dividends received
Interest – other persons
Other income
Other income
Total revenue and other income
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Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

65,778
842
66,620

54,091
399
54,490

19,383
192
19,575

7,418
31
7,449

4

46

4

46

66,624

54,536

19,579

7,495
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Economic Entity
Note

4

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

69

175

-

171

245
1,206

123
1,220

-

-

1,451

1,343

-

-

1,431

1,428

-

-

$

$

$

$

83,000
8,500
5,250

82,000
10,000
-

5,000
-

3,000
-

$’000

$’000

EXPENSES

(a) Profit before income tax includes the
following specific expenses
Finance costs
Other persons
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Software development
Plant and equipment

14
12

Rental expense on operating leases
Minimum lease payments
(b) Auditor’s remuneration
Remuneration of the auditor (Grant
Thornton) of the parent entity for:
Auditing or reviewing the Financial Report
Audits for customer contracts
Review of subsidiary

5

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(BENEFIT)

(a) Components of tax expense/(benefit)
Current tax expense/(benefit)
Deferred tax
Income tax expense/(benefit)

$’000

$’000

7,453
98

5,520
322

(198)
112

(314)
112

7,551

5,842

(86)

(202)

24,919

19,079

18,874

6,615

7,476

5,724

5,662

1,984

62
7
6
75

39
5
74
118

62
4
66

39
39

-

-

(5,814)

(2,225)

7,551

5,842

(86)

(202)

(b) The prima facie tax payable on profit before
income tax is reconciled to the income tax
expense/(benefit) as follows
Profit before income tax expense/(benefit)
Prima facie tax payable on profit before
income tax at 30% (2007: 30%)
Add tax effect of:
- share-based payments
- non deductible costs
- underprovision from prior years
Less tax effect of:
- dividends received
Income tax expense/(benefit)
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Economic Entity

6

2008
’000

2007
’000

$17,368
$17,368

$13,237
$13,237

67,415
791
11

66,892
848
100

68,217

67,840

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Reconciliation of earnings to profit
Net profit
Earnings used to calculate basic earnings per share (EPS)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculation
of basic EPS
Weighted average number of options on issue outstanding
Weighted average number of shares to be issued to vendor (see below)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculation
of diluted EPS

The price adjustment due in respect of the profit performance of Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited for the year ended 30 June 2007 was the
final payment due for the acquisition of that company. This amount ($1,193,856) was paid in the year ended 30 June 2008. Under the acquisition
agreement, the price adjustments were paid by a combination of cash and the issue of ordinary shares, with the share component comprising
not more than 50% of the relevant amount payable. Pursuant to paragraph 58 of AASB 133: Earnings per Share, where a contract may be settled
in ordinary shares or cash, the diluted EPS calculation must be based on the presumption that the contract will be settled in ordinary shares. An
estimated number of shares of 114,794 at a price of $5.20 was used for the EPS calculation for the year ended 30 June 2007 based on 50% of the
estimated price adjustment of $1,193,856. The actual amount of shares issued on 1 October 2007 was 129,767 at a price of $4.60.
For the year ended 30 June 2008, the weighted average number of shares issued to the vendor represents the difference between the estimated
number of shares to be issued (114,794) and the actual number of shares issued (129,767) adjusted by the number of days on issue for the year
ended 30 June 2008.
For the year ended 30 June 2007, the weighted average number of shares issued to the vendor represents the estimated number shares of 114,794
referred to above adjusted for the difference between the number of shares estimated to be issued (172,488) in respect of the price adjustment for
the financial year ended 30 June 2006 and the actual shares issued (151,243) on 11 October 2006. For the financial year ended 30 June 2007, the
weighted average number of shares is based on a deemed issue date of the beginning of the financial year i.e. 1 July 2006 (2006 – 1 July 2005),
this equates to a weighted average number of shares of 99,544.

Economic Entity

7

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

5,383

4,679

5,383

4,679

5,068

3,018

5,068

3,018

10,451

7,697

10,451

7,697

10,451

7,401

10,451

7,401

DIVIDENDS
Final fully franked ordinary dividend of $0.080
(2007: $0.070) per share franked at the tax rate of 30%
(2007: 30%)
Interim fully franked ordinary dividend of $0.075
(2007: $0.045) per share franked at the tax rate of 30%
(2007: 30%)

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years
based on a tax rate of 30% (2007 – 30%)

The above amounts represent the balance of franking account at the end of the financial year end adjusted for:
(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax,
(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date, and
(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.
The consolidated amounts include franking credits that would be available to the parent entity if distributable profits of subsidiaries were paid
as dividends.
The impact on the franking account of the dividends recommended by the Directors since year end, but not recognised as a liability at year end, will
be a reduction in the franking account of $2,606,789 (2007: $2,306,834).
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Economic Entity

8

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2
6,697
11,270

2
8,825
882

371
10,000

212
-

17,969

9,709

10,371

212

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents are subject to interest rate risk as they earn interest at floating rates.
Cash at bank is at floating rates. In 2008, the floating interest rates for the economic entity and parent were between 2.4% and 7.43% (2007: 0.1%
and 6.1%).
The short term deposits are subject to floating rates, which in 2008 were between 7.2% and 8.1% (2007: 5.7% and 6.1%). These deposits have an
average maturity of 88 days (2007: 90 days).
(a) Sensitivity analysis – floating interest rates
At 30 June 2008, the Group’s and Parent Entity’s cash and cash equivalents give rise to credit interest rate risk. If the Australian interest rate
weakened or strengthened by 50 basis points and all other variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year would have been $62,900
(Parent: $36,300) higher or lower depending on which way the interest rates moved based on the cash and cash equivalents balances at 30 June
(2007: Group: $34,000; Parent: $742, higher or lower depending on which way the interest rates moved based on the cash and cash equivalents
balances at 30 June).
Economic Entity

9

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

4,606
1,275
2,955

2,310
1,412
3,914

37
106

77
17

8,836

7,636

143

94

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other receivables

The carrying amounts of all current receivables are equal to their fair values as they are short term.
(a) Ageing and impairment losses
The ageing of trade receivables for the economic entity at reporting date was:
2008

2007

Total

Amount
impaired

Economic Entity

$’000

$’000

Not past due

4,450

-

Past due 30 days

Amount not
impaired

Total

Amount
impaired

Amount not
impaired

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

4,450

2,172

-

2,172

107

-

107

39

-

39

Past due 31-60 days

36

-

36

30

-

30

Past due 61-90 days

21

(8)

13

23

-

23

Past due >90 days

60

(60)

-

46

-

46

4,674

(68)

4,606

2,310

-

2,310

Total
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(b) Concentration of risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, at the reporting date by geographic region is limited to Australia only, as the
economic entity only trades within the boundaries of the Australian continent.
Approximately 72% (2007: 33%) of the Group’s trade receivables relate to customers for the supply of petroleum products in relation to fleet
customers. Management have assessed this concentration of risk and are satisfied with the strategies employed in ensuring the exposure to this
risk is minimal. Management considers that no other significant concentrations of risk within trade receivables exist.
(c) Other receivables
These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the economic entity. None of the other current receivables
are impaired or past due.
(d) Doubtful debts policy
Refer Note 1(i).

Economic Entity
Note

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

44,332

44,332

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage Owned
2008

Percentage Owned
2007

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

10 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current

Shares in subsidiaries at cost

11

11 SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and
result of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy
described in Note 1(c).
Name

Parent entity
McMillan Shakespeare Limited
Subsidiaries of parent entity
McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited
Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited
Easilease Pty Limited

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

(a) Acquisition of Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited
On 1 November 2004 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of PKF Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited. On 10 November
2004 that Company changed its name to Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited.
Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:
2007
$’000

Purchase consideration (refer to Note 11(b)):
Cash paid
Amount payable to vendor
Share consideration
Total purchase consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired
(refer to Note 11(c))
Goodwill (refer to Notes 11(c) and 14)
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7,576
1,194
3,062
11,832

2007 vendor
payment
$’000

597
(1,194)
597
-

2008
$’000

Total
$’000

-

8,173
3,659
11,832

(2,730)

-

-

(2,730)

9,102

-

-

9,102
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2006
$’000

Purchase consideration (refer to Note 11(b)):
Cash paid
Amount payable to vendor
Share consideration
Total purchase consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill (refer to Notes 11(c) and 14)

2006 vendor
payment $’000

6,998
2,132
2,485
11,615
(2,730)

578
(1,155)
577
-

2007
$’000

Total
$’000

217
217
-

7,576
1,194
3,062
11,832
(2,730)

-

217

9,102

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

597

578

597

578

8,885

(b) Purchase consideration
Economic Entity

Parent Entity

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiaries
Cash consideration

The initial purchase consideration included cash consideration of $6,337,343 and 1,176,470 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company with a fair
value of $1.55 each based on the published share price at the date of acquisition.
The consideration payable also included an amount payable to the vendors booked at 30 June 2005 of $1,322,004 as the price adjustment for the
profit performance of Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited for the year ended 30 June 2005. The estimated price adjustments for the profit
performance for the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007 were booked at 30 June 2006 for an amount of $2,132,096.
The amount booked at 30 June 2005 was paid during the year ended 30 June 2006 in the form of cash of $661,002 and 351,597 fully paid ordinary
shares in the Company with a fair value of $1.88 each based on the weighted average published price over the period from 23 August 2005 to
21 September 2005. An amount of $1,155,484 due for the profit performance in respect of the year ended 30 June 2006 was paid during the year
ended 30 June 2007 in the form of cash of $577,736 and 151,243 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company with a fair value of $3.82 each based
on the weighted average published price over the period from 18 August 2006 to 22 September 2006.
The amount payable in respect of the profit performance for the year ended 30 June 2007 of $1,193,856 was paid during the year ended
30 June 2008 in the form of cash of $596,928 and 129,767 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company with a fair value of $4.60 each based on the
weighted average published price over the period from 1 September 2007 to 30 September 2007.
(c) Assets and liabilities acquired
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Ltd were as follows:

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date

Book value
$’000

Fair value
adjustments
$’000

Fair value on
acquisition
$’000

Cash
Trade receivables
Plant and equipment
Deferred tax asset
Trade and other payables
Provision for employee benefits
Tax liability
Lease liabilities
Other
Contracts

489
92
302
33
(13)
(306)
(49)
(162)
(68)
-

(73)
2,485

489
92
302
33
(13)
(306)
(122)
(162)
(68)
2,485

Net identifiable assets and liabilities

318

2,412

2,730

The goodwill was attributable to the high profitability of the acquired business and synergies expected to arise after the Company’s acquisition of
Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited. The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired were based on discounted cash flow models.
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Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

(a) Plant and equipment
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

10,011
(7,958)

9,035
(6,752)

-

-

Total plant and equipment

2,053

2,283

-

-

12 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(b) Movements in cost and accumulated depreciation
Economic Entity
Total 2008
$’000

Cost
Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Balance at 30 June
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at the beginning of year
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Balance at 30 June
Carrying amount
At 1 July
At 30 June

Total 2007
$’000

9,035
976
10,011

8,084
1,055
(104)
9,035

(6,752)
(1,206)
(7,958)

(5,617)
(1,220)
85
(6,752)

2,283

2,467

2,053

2,283

(c) Movements in carrying amounts
Economic Entity
Total 2008
$’000

Plant and equipment
Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation expense

2,283
976
(1,206)

Carrying amount at the end of year

2,053

(d) Security
None of the above assets have been pledged as security.
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Economic Entity
2008
$’000

Parent Entity
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

525
28
266
(145)
674

1
1

1
1

-

112

-

112

688

786

1

113

13 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
(a) Asset
The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Doubtful debts
Employee benefits
Plant and equipment
Accrued expenses
Other
Prepayments
Amounts recognised directly in equity
Share issue expenses

20
594
29
231
(8)
(178)
688

(b) Movement
Opening balance at 1 July
Credited/(charged) to income statement
Transfer between deferred tax and provision
Transfer from deferred tax to current tax for amounts
recognised directly in equity - share issue expenses

786
15
(1)

1,266
(210)
(157)

113
-

232
(6)

(112)

(113)

(112)

(113)

Closing balance at 30 June

688

786

1

113

33,328
33,328

33,328
33,328

-

-

3,975
(3,412)
563

3,544
(3,202)
342

-

-

2,485
(2,485)
-

2,485
(2,485)
-

-

-

33,891

33,670

-

-

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(a) Carrying values
Goodwill
Cost
Net carrying value
Software development costs
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying value
Contracts acquired
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying value
Total Intangibles
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Goodwill
$’000

(b) Reconciliation of net book amount
Net book amount
Balance beginning of year
Additions
Amortisation
Loss on disposal
Balance end of year

Economic Entity
Software
development costs Contracts acquired
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

33,328
-

342
481
(245)
(15)

-

33,670
481
(245)
(15)

33,328

563

-

33,891

(c) Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the economic entity’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified arising from the acquisitions of the three subsidiaries.
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each segment is:

Economic Entity

McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited
Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited
Easilease Pty Limited

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

24,190
9,102
36

24,190
9,102
36

33,328
33,328
The recoverable amount of each CGU above is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the present value of cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.
(d) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
Discount rate
2008
%

2007
%

McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited
20.5
19.3
Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Limited
20.5
19.3
Easilease Pty Limited
20.5
19.3
The budgets use historical average growth rates to project revenue. Costs are determined taking into account historical margins and estimated cost
increases. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate for conservatism. The growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.
In performing the value-in-use calculations for each CGU, the economic entity has applied pre-tax discount rates to discount the forecast future
attributable pre-tax cash flows. The equivalent pre-tax discount rates are disclosed above. The discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant business each subsidiary is operating in.
These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within each subsidiary.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceed the carrying amounts by substantial margins. Consequently, a sensitivity analysis of possible changes
in key assumptions is not considered necessary.
Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

4,806
652
4,316
-

2,107
535
5,232
1,194
-

3
121
17,122

47
1,194
15,553

15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Unsecured liabilities
Trade payables
GST payable
Sundry creditors and accruals
Amounts due to vendor
Amounts payable to wholly-owned entities

9,774
9,068
17,246
16,794
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing. These are short-term liabilities and the carrying value is representative of the fair value.
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Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

3,206

2,565

-

-

Employee benefits
Current
Non-current

1,814
166

1,587
165

-

-

Aggregate employee benefits liability

1,980

1,752

-

-

270

432

-

-

22,637

21,734

22,637

21,734

Number of shares

Issue price
$

Ordinary shares
$’000

16 CURRENT TAX LIABILITY
Income tax

17 PROVISIONS

18 OTHER LIABILITIES
Income received in advance

19 ISSUED CAPITAL
67,538,428 (2007: 67,065,730) fully paid ordinary
shares

(a) Reconciliation of movement in capital
Balance at 1 July 2007
Shares issued during the year
1 October 2007
Options exercised during the year
24 September 2007
24 September 2007
4 October 2007
9 October 2007
22 February 2008
14 March 2008
Total shares issued

67,065,730

21,734

129,767

4.600

597

170,059
46,875
35,809
23,438
103,875
7,875
517,698

0.583
1.650
0.583
1.853
0.583
0.583

99
77
21
43
61
5
903

Balance at 30 June 2008

67,583,428

22,637

Balance at 1 July 2006
Shares issued during the year
11 October 2006
Options exercised during the year
3 August 2006
22 September 2006
3 November 2006
5 December 2006
20 March 2007
Total shares issued

66,453,266

20,689

Balance at 30 June 2007

67,065,730

151,243

3.820

578

16,750
371,325
11,333
15,875
45,938
612,464

0.583
0.959
0.583
0.583
1.853

10
356
7
9
85
1,045
21,734

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the number of members’ shares held.
At members’ meetings, each fully paid ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a
show of hands.
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(b) Options
At 30 June 2008, there were 779,850 (2007: 870,084) unissued ordinary shares for which options were outstanding.
On 1 July 2008, the Company issued an additional 4,375,000 options over ordinary shares to specified executives with an exercise price of $4.70,
expiring on 30 June 2012.
(c) Capital management strategy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares
or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including borrowings and trade and other payables as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
is calculated as equity as shown in the balance sheet (including minority interest) plus net debt.
During the year ended 30 June 2008, the Board determined that the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position outweighed the
opportunity for higher returns that might otherwise be possible with higher levels of borrowings, given the current global economic climate. As
such, the Group maintained a positive net cash position.

20 RESERVES
Option reserve
Movements in the reserve are detailed in the Statement of Changes in Equity. The reserve records amounts for the fair value of options granted and
recognised as an employee benefits expense but not exercised.

21 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit from operating activities after income tax
Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Profit for the year
Non-cash flows in profit from operating activities
Amortisation
Depreciation
Option expense
Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of
purchase and disposal of subsidiaries
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals
Increase in income taxes payable
Decrease in deferred taxes
Increase in deferred revenue
Increase in employee benefits

17,368

13,237

18,960

6,817

245
1,206
206
15

123
1,220
130
19

206
-

130
-

(1,200)
1,577
641
98
162
228

(879)
(123)
1,123
479
199
271

(49)
78
112
112
-

135
(592)
209
119
-

Net cash from operating activities

20,546
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Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Plant and equipment

539

98

-

-

Payable:
- Not later than 12 months

539

98

-

-

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

1,776
1,305

1,623
2,895

-

-

22 CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:

(b) Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements:
Economic Entity

Payable - minimum lease payments
- Not later than 12 months
- Between 12 months and 5 years

Parent Entity

3,081
4,518
The property leases are non-cancellable leases with varying terms, with rent payable monthly in advance. Individual rental agreements specify each
rental adjustment. The equipment leases are non-cancellable leases with varying terms, with rent payable quarterly in arrears.

23 SEGMENT REPORTING
The economic entity operates solely in Australia within the remuneration services industry.

24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may become payable:
Economic Entity

Guarantees issued for the performance of contractual
obligations. A term deposit of $800,000 supports
these guarantees.
Guarantee provided by the Economic Entity to a
supplier of goods to the economic entity’s employee
clients for the difference, as at 30 June 2008, between
the amounts due to the supplier and the amounts
reimbursed to the supplier via the employee clients’
salary packaging deductions (or other payment).
This difference is expected to be received over the
reimbursement period (generally 1-6 months) from the
date of purchase of the goods from the supplier.
Guarantee issued in respect of property leases
supported by a term deposit.

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

773

1,423

-

-

82

-

-

-

505

505

380

380

1,360

1,928

380

380
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25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Wholly owned group
Transactions between the Company and other entities within the wholly owned Group during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007 consisted of:
(a) loans advanced to the Company; and
(b) the payment of dividends to the Company.
Aggregate amounts included in the determination of profit from ordinary activities before income tax that resulted from transactions with entities in
the wholly owned Group:
Economic Entity

Dividend revenue
Aggregate amounts payable to entities within the wholly
owned Group at balance date:
Current payables

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

19,383

7,418

-

-

17,122

15,553

(b) Key management personnel
The following were key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the reporting period and unless otherwise indicated were key
management personnel for the entire period:
(i)

Non-executive directors: Ronald Pitcher, John Bennetts, Ross Chessari and Graeme McMahon;

(ii) Executive director: Anthony Podesta; and
(iii) Executives:

Michael Kay (appointed 5 May 2008) 1
Mark Cansdale (appointed 26 May 2008)
Geoff Kruyt (appointed 5 February 2008)
Peter Lang
Karen Murphy 2
Paul McCluskey (resigned 26 May 2008)
George Haramis (resigned 5 February 2008)

Position

Employer

CEO
CFO and Company Secretary
National Sales Manager
Head of Operations
CEO, Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Ltd
CFO and Company Secretary
Director of Sales and Marketing

McMillan Shakespeare Limited
McMillan Shakespeare Limited
McMillan Shakespeare Limited
McMillan Shakespeare Limited
Remuneration Services (Qld) Pty Ltd
McMillan Shakespeare Limited
McMillan Shakespeare Limited

1.

Mr Kay was appointed to the Board as an Executive Director on 15 July 2008

2.

Ms Murphy ceased employment with the Group on 1 July 2008

Economic Entity

Compensation
Short-term employment benefits
Post-employment benefits
Long-term employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments
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Parent Entity

2008
$

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

1,798,492
267,518
6,666
258,899
62,237

1,361,583
305,203
7,273
9,137
65,867

707,830
164,899
152,501
62,237

548,932
159,617
1,624
65,867

2,393,812

1,749,063

1,087,467

776,040
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Shareholding
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 by each Director and each of the
specified executives of the economic entity, including their personally related entities, are set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2008
Directors
RG Pitcher
AG Podesta
R Chessari
JG Bennetts
G McMahon

Other key management personnel
MGD Kay (appointed 5 May 2008)
M Cansdale (appointed 26 May 2008)
G Kruyt (appointed 5 February 2008)
PA Lang
K Murphy
P McCluskey (resigned 26 May 2008)
G Haramis (resigned 5 February 2008)

Year ended 30 June 2007
Directors
RG Pitcher
AG Podesta
R Chessari
JG Bennetts
G McMahon

Other key management personnel
PA Lang
PJ Staunton (resigned 4 May 2007)
P McCluskey

Balance at the
start of the year

Shares acquired
through option exercise

Other changes
during the year

Balance held at
balance date

105,100
12,935,000
6,425,063
5,045,546
100,000

-

-

105,100
12,935,000
6,425,063
5,045,546
100,000

24,610,709

-

-

24,610,709

383,564
364,718
-

28,876
34,420
46,875
-

4,164
(53,092)
(46,875)
-

4,164
359,348
399,138
-

748,282

110,171

(95,803)

762,650

105,100
15,101,819
8,000,063
6,930,546
100,000

-

(2,166,819)
(1,575,000)
(1,885,000)
-

105,100
12,935,000
6,425,063
5,045,546
100,000

30,237,528

-

(5,626,819)

24,610,709

329,518
1,226,698
50,000

35,200
71,500
50,000

(946,642)
(100,000)

364,718
351,556
-

1,606,216

1,606,216

(889,942)

716,274
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Options
The number of options to acquire shares in the Company held during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 by each Director
and each of the specified executives of the economic entity, including their personally related entities, are set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2008
Directors
RG Pitcher
AG Podesta
R Chessari
JG Bennetts
G McMahon

Other key management personnel
MGD Kay (appointed 5 May 2008)
M Cansdale (appointed 26 may 2008)
G Kruyt (appointed 5 February 2008)
PA Lang
K Murphy
P McCluskey (resigned 26 May 2008)
G Haramis (resigned 5 May 2008)

Balance at the
start of the year

Issued

Exercised

Lapsed

Balance held at
balance date

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,000
140,000
50,000
-

90,000
40,000
100,000

(28,876)
(34,420)
(46,875)
-

(6,124)
(7,905)
(3,125)
(100,000)

90,000
137,675
-

225,000

230,000

(110,171)

(117,154)

227,675

Of the 227,675 options held at year end, only 14,341 options issued to PA Lang had vested at balance date.
Balance at the
start of the year

Issued

Exercised

Lapsed

Balance held at
balance date

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

80,000
113,500
100,000
-

100,000
-

(35,200)
(71,500)
(50,000)
-

(4,800)
(42,000)
-

140,000
50,000
-

293,500

100,000

(156,700)

(46,800)

190,000

Year ended 30 June 2007
Directors
RG Pitcher
AG Podesta
R Chessari
JG Bennetts
G McMahon

Other key management personnel
PA Lang
PJ Staunton
P McCluskey
G Haramis
K Murphy

26 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company established the Employee Option Plan in 2004. The Remuneration Committee determines the number of options to be granted on the
basis of the position, duties and responsibilities of the relevant employees.
Options are granted under the plan for no consideration over unissued ordinary shares in the Company. Options are granted for a four year period
and the exercise price is based on prevailing market prices when the issue is approved by the Board.
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Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
All options in the March 2004, December 2004 and April 2005 offers were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
•

50% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but the
entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment;

•

25% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended
30 June 2005, the targets centred around the achievement of EBITDA, operating revenue and client number hurdles (with achievement of less
than the predetermined EBITDA, operating revenue and client number hurdles resulting in partial or no vesting entitlement). For the financial
year ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT; and

•

25% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2005, 15 September 2006 and 15 September 2007, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial years
ending 30 June 2005, 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007.

The August 2005 offer was issued on the same terms as above, other than with respect to the financial year ended 30 June 2005 for which there
were no financial targets or individual performance indicators.
All options in the February 2007 offer were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
•

50% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009,
but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment;

•

25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009,
but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial years ended
30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT; and

•

25% of the options vest and are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2007, 15 September 2008 and 15 September 2009,
but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial
years ending 30 June 2007, 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009,

other than with respect to 50,000 options that are exercisable on or after 15 September 2009 subject to continuity of employment until that date.
165,000 options of the December 2007 offer were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
•

50% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011, but the
entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment;

•

25% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011, but the
entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended 30 June
2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT; and

•

25% of the options are exercisable in equal proportions on or after 15 September 2009, 15 September 2010 and 15 September 2011, but
the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction of individual performance indicators for the financial years
ending 30 June 2008, 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2010.

90,000 options of the December 2007 offer are exercisable on or after 15 September 2010 subject to continuity of employment until that date.
290,000 options of the December 2007 offer are exercisable subject to continuity of employment until 15 September 2008 and achievement of
individual performance indicators or achievement of budgeted NPAT for the financial year ending 30 June 2008.
30,000 options of the December 2007 offer were issued subject to the following exercise conditions:
•

50% of the options vest on or after 15 September 2008 but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment;

•

25% of the options vest on or after 15 September 2008, but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and achievement
of predetermined targets. For the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the targets centred on the achievement of budgeted NPAT; and

•

25% of the options vest on or after 15 September 2008, but the entitlement to exercise is subject to continuity of employment and satisfaction
of individual performance indicators for the financial year ending 30 June 2008.
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Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

Grant date

Expiry date

Economic and parent entity - 2008
15 March 2004
15 March 2008
14 December 2004 14 December 2008
21 April 2005
21 April 2009
15 August 2005
15 August 2009
4 February 2007
4 February 2011
21 December 2007 21 December 2011

Balance at
start of the
year

Granted
during the
year

$0.50
$1.54
$1.59
$0.50
$3.80
$4.52

452,384
25,000
50,000
342,700
870,084
$1.83

$0.50
$1.54
$1.59
$0.50
$3.80

764,467
113,500
70,938
100,000
1,048,905
$0.69

Exercise
price

Weighted average exercise price
Economic and parent entity - 2007
15 March 2004
15 March 2008
14 December 2004 14 December 2008
21 April 2005
21 April 2009
15 August 2005
15 August 2009
4 February 2007
4 February 2011
Weighted average exercise price

Exercised
during the
year

Forfeited
during the
year

Balance at Exercisable
end of the at end of the
year
year

575,000
575,000
$4.52

(317,618)
(23,438)
(46,875)
(387,931)
$0.57

(134,766)
(1,562)
(3,125)
(38,120)
(100,000)
(277,573)
$2.41

304,580
475,000
779,580
$4.24

74,112
74,112
$3.80

342,700
342,700
$3.80

(293,783)
(71,500)
(45,938)
(50,000)
(461,221)
$0.77

(18,300)
(42,000)
(60,300)
$1.22

452,384
25,000
50,000
342,700
870,084
$1.83

119,049
119,049
$0.50

Of the forfeited options, 81,250 options with a value of $6,670 (2007:nil) represent expired options.
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options during the year was $4.27 (2007: $3.82).
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the year was 3.1 years (2007: 2.0 years).
Fair value of options granted
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year was $0.525 per option (2007: $0.72). The fair value at grant date is
determined using a binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at the grant date,
the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2008 included:
• options are granted for no consideration;
• share price at grant date: $4.52 (2007: $3.80);
• exercise price: $4.52 (2007: $3.80);
• expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 24% (2007: 29.7%);
• grant date: 21 December 2007 (2007: 4 February 2007);
• expected dividend yield: 3.75% (2007: 2.9%);
• expiry date: 21 December 2011 (2007: 4 February 2011);
• risk-free interest rate: 6.33% (2007: 5.90%).
The expected price volatility is based on historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility due to publicly available information.
Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year as part of employee and Director benefits expense were
as follows:
Economic Entity

Options issued under Employee Option Plan

Parent Entity

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

207

130

207

130

27 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the Directors have not become aware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt
with in the financial statements that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company or the economic entity, the
results of those operations or the state of affairs in subsequent financial years.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The Directors are of the opinion that:
1.

the financial statements and notes on pages 21 to 47 and the audited remuneration disclosures on pages 6 to 14 are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001(Cth) and:
(a) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth) and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and
(b) give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and financial performance for the financial year
ended on that date; and

2.

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A of the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth).
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Ronald Pitcher, AM
Chairman

Michael Kay
Managing Director

5 September 2008
Melbourne, Australia
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

To the members of McMillan Shakespeare Limited

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT
We have audited the accompanying ﬁnancial report of McMillan Shakespeare Limited (the company) which comprises the
balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash ﬂow statement for the
year ended on that date, a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration
of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during
the ﬁnancial year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL REPORT
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the ﬁnancial report in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the ﬁnancial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1(b), the directors
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with
the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the ﬁnancial report, comprising the
ﬁnancial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the ﬁnancial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards.These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements
relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the ﬁnancial report is
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial report.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the ﬁnancial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the ﬁnancial report in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
ﬁnancial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufﬁcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

ELECTRONIC PRESENTATION OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT
This auditor’s report relates to the ﬁnancial report of McMillan Shakespeare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008
included on McMillan Shakespeare Limited’s web site.The company’s directors are responsible for the integrity of the
McMillan Shakespeare Limited’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the McMillan Shakespeare
Limited’s web site.The auditor’s report refers only to the statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any
other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these statements. If users of this report are concerned with the
inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited ﬁnancial
report to conﬁrm the information included in the audited ﬁnancial report presented on this web site.
Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member ﬁrm within Grant Thornton International Ltd. Grant Thornton International Ltd and the
member ﬁrms are not a worldwide partnership. Grant Thornton Australia Limited, together with its subsidiaries and related entities, delivers
its services independently in Australia.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards legislation*
*other than for acts or omissions of ﬁnancial services licensees

McMILLAN SHAKESPEARE LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

INDEPENDENCE
In conducting our audit, we complied with applicable independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

AUDITOR’S OPINION
In our opinion:
(a) the ﬁnancial report of McMillan Shakespeare Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2008 and of
their performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) the ﬁnancial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note1(b).

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 14 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2008.
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report,
based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

AUDITOR’S OPINION
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of McMillan Shakespeare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, complies with
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

GRANT THORNTON
Chartered Accountants

Brad Taylor
Partner

Melbourne, 5 September 2008
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

TO THE DIRECTORS OF MCMILLAN SHAKESPEARE LIMITED
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of McMillan
Shakespeare Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
(a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
(b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

GRANT THORNTON
Chartered Accountants

Brad Taylor
Partner

Melbourne, 5 September, 2008

Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member ﬁrm within Grant Thornton International Ltd. Grant Thornton International Ltd and the
member ﬁrms are not a worldwide partnership. Grant Thornton Australia Limited, together with its subsidiaries and related entities, delivers
its services independently in Australia.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards legislation*
*other than for acts or omissions of ﬁnancial services licensees
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Additional information required by the ASX Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report is set out below:

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
As at the date of this Annual Report, the number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates is as follows:
Shareholder

Number of Ordinary Shares

Meddiscope Pty Limited1
Chessari Holdings Pty Limited2
Asia Pac Technology Pty Limited3
Portfolio Partners Limited (and certain entities in the AVIVA plc Group)

12,935,000
6,425,063
5,045,546
3,694,628

1 Meddiscope Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr Anthony Podesta, an executive Director. Meddiscope Pty Limited has a deemed relevant interest in the shares
held by Cobax Pty Limited, as both entities are controlled by Mr Podesta.
2 Chessari Holdings Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr Ross Chessari, a non-executive Director.
3 Asia Pac Technology Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr John Bennetts, a non-executive Director.

NUMBER OF SHARE & OPTION HOLDERS
As at 26 August 2008, the number of holders of ordinary shares and options in the Company was as follows:
Class of Security

Number of Holders

Fully paid ordinary shares
Options exercisable at $3.80 and expiring on 4 February 2011
Options exercisable at $4.52 and expiring on 21 December 2011
Options exercisable at $4.70 and expiring on 30 June 2012

855
9
12
2

VOTING RIGHTS
In accordance with the Constitution of the Company and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), every member present in person or by proxy at a general
meeting of the members of the Company has:
•

on a vote taken by a show of hands, one vote; and

•

on a vote taken by a poll, one vote for every fully paid ordinary share held in the Company.

A poll may be demanded at a general meeting of the members of the Company in the manner permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARE & OPTION HOLDERS
As at 26 August 2008, the distribution of share and option holders in the Company was as follows:
Distribution of Shares & Options

1 - 1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,000+

Number of Holders of Ordinary Shares

Number of Holders of Options

170
308
172
166
39

19
3

As at 26 August 2008, there were 20 shareholders who held less than a marketable parcel of 186 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS
As at 26 August 2008, the details of the top 20 shareholders in the Company were as follows:
No.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Name

Limited2

Meddiscope Pty
National Nominees Limited
Chessari Holdings Pty Limited3
Asia Pac Technology Pty Limited4
HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Limited
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited
Invia Custodian Pty Limited
Aust Executor Trustees NSW Limited
ANZ Nominees Limited
Bond Street Custodians Limited
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
Ann Leslie Ryan
Queensland Investment Corporation
Cobax Pty Limited2
MF Custodians Limited
Mohl Invest Pty Limited
Sandhurst Trustees Limited
Thaw Nominees Pty Limited
One Corporation Pty Limited
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

Number of Ordinary Shares

Percentage of Ordinary Shares1

12,500,000
6,678,320
6,425,063
5,045,546
4,840,476
3,674,646
3,598,633
3,486,492
3,319,552
2,707,301
2,654,295
1,358,418
748,369
435,000
350,000
345,455
292,768
273,559
259,741
226,151

18.50%
9.88%
9.51%
7.47%
7.16%
5.48%
5.32%
5.16%
4.91%
4.01%
3.93%
2.01%
1.11%
0.64%
0.52%
0.51%
0.43%
0.40%
0.38%
0.33%

1 As at 26 August 2008, 67,583,428 fully paid ordinary shares had been issued by the Company.
2 Meddiscope Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr Anthony Podesta, an Executive Director. Meddiscope Pty Limited has a deemed relevant interest in the shares
held by Cobax Pty Limited, as both entities are controlled by Mr Podesta.
3 Chessari Holdings Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr Ross Chessari, a non-executive Director.
4 Asia Pac Technology Pty Limited is a company associated with Mr John Bennetts, a non-executive Director.

RESTRICTED SECURITIES
As at the date of this Annual Report, there are no securities in the Company subject to voluntary escrow or any other restrictions.

UNQUOTED SECURITIES
As at the date of this Annual Report, the details of unquoted securities in the Company are as follows:
Class

Options exercisable at $3.80 and expiring on 4 February 2011
Options exercisable at $4.52 and expiring on 21 December 2011
Options exercisable at $4.70 and expiring on 1 July 2012

Number of Securities

Number of Holders

304,580
475,000
4,375,000

9
12
2

No person holds 20% or more of the class of unquoted securities noted above.

ON-MARKET BUY BACK
The Company does not have a current on-market buy-back.
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